S213687

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V

DONNA MARIE TRUJILLO,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT Case No. S FILED

SEP 3 0 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H038316 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. C1199870 The Honorable Linda R. Clark, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

INTRODUCTION

Respondent respectfully requests review of the Court of Appeal's decision reversing and remanding the case for purposes of determining appellant's ability to pay probation supervision and presentencing fees. The opinion is unpublished. The Court of Appeal filed its opinion on August 22, 2013. (Appendix A.) No rehearing was sought. This petition is timely. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(e).)

QUESTION FOR REVIEW

Does a failure to object to a presentence investigation fee and probation supervision fee forfeit a claim of failure to make a finding of ability to pay?

STATEMENT

Defendant attempted to sell two valuable stolen Russian icons at a garage sale. On November 17, 2011, a jury convicted defendant of receiving stolen property (Pen. Code, § 496, subd. (a), further statutory citations are to this code unless otherwise specified). (4RT 78-79, 109-110, 115-116, 252-262, 5RT 328-330; CT 127.)

On April 20, 2012, the court suspended imposition of sentence and placed defendant on probation. The court imposed the following fines and fees: a \$240, plus \$24 (10 percent) restitution fund fine (§ 1202.4), with an equal probation revocation fine stayed (§ 1202.44); a \$129.75 criminal justice administration fee (Govt. Code, § 29550.1) payable to the City of San Jose; a \$40 court security fee (§ 1465.8); a \$30 criminal conviction assessment fee (Govt. Code, § 70373); a presentence investigation fee "not

to exceed \$300" and a probation supervision fee "not to exceed \$110 per month" (§ 1203.1b). (5RT 357-358; CT 171; see also CT 153-159.)

The court ordered defendant to "report to the Department of Revenue within 30 days for completion of a payment plan for the fines and fees that will be imposed. . . ." (5RT 356.) Defendant neither objected to the fines and fees, nor professed an inability to pay them. (See, e.g., 5RT 351-358.) Defendant refused to speak to the probation officer prior to sentencing. She accused that officer of conspiring against her (see CT 155-156), and failed to appear at the initial sentencing hearing. (See 5RT 356; CT 172.)

On defendant's appeal, the Court of Appeal for the Sixth Appellate District reversed and remanded with directions to the trial court to follow the statutory procedure in section 1203.1b before imposing probation related costs of the presentence investigation and probation supervision.² The court found appellant's failure to object forfeited a challenge to the criminal justice administration fee under People v. McCullough (2013) 56 Cal.4th 589. (Typed opn. at p. 10.) However, it found McCullough inapplicable to probation-related fees. It noted the fees are not "de minimis." Notwithstanding McCullough's disapproval of the Sixth District's decision in in People v. Pacheco (2010) 187 Cal. App. 4th 1392, which allowed challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence to support an ability to pay finding to be raised for the first time on appeal, the court invoked *Pacheco* as authority obligating the trial court to determine defendant's ability to pay under section 1203.1b. (Typed opn. at p. 6 ["Even if we were to conclude that under McCullough [defendant's] sufficiency of the evidence argument as to probation related costs is

¹A copy of section 1203.1b is an appendix to this petition. (Appendix B.)

² The court also ordered unrelated corrections to the sentencing minutes.

forfeited, there is nothing in the record to support the conclusion that anyone, whether the probation officer or the court, made a determination of [her] ability to pay the probation supervision fee or cost of preparing the presentence investigation report. In other words, there is nothing in the record to support the conclusion that the court or the probation officer complied with the procedural safeguards," brackets added and fn. omitted].)

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

People v. McCullough, supra, 56 Cal.4th 589, held that a defendant who failed to challenge a booking fee under Government Code section 29550.2 forfeited a claim of insufficiency of evidence as to an ability to pay finding. (Id. at p. 591.) The Court disapproved the Sixth District's opinion in People v. Pacheco, supra, 187 Cal.App.4th 1392, which held that the issue of ability to pay based on sufficiency of the evidence is preserved for appellate review regardless of whether an objection is made at sentencing.

In the present case, the Sixth District acknowledged the holding in *McCullough*, but nonetheless remanded for an ability to pay finding on authority of *Pacheco*. (Typed slip opn. at p. 6.) It reasoned that the record failed to show the finding of ability to pay presentence investigation and probation supervision fees required under section 1203.1b. The Sixth District distinguished *McCullough* on the grounds that the presentence investigation and probation supervision fees were not de minimis and that the Legislature required a finding of ability to pay for such fees, regardless of the absence of an objection.

Review is necessary to secure uniformity of decision. The present case, although unpublished, conflicts with cases in the First and Third Districts applying the *McCullough* forfeiture rule where the defendant did not object to the ability to pay probation supervision, criminal justice administration/ booking, alcohol testing, and attorney fees (*People v. Aguilar* (Aug. 28 2013, A135516) ___ Cal.App.4th ___ [2013 WL

5290314]) and, as in this case, to probation supervision and presentence investigation fees (*People v. Snow* (Aug. 26, 2013, C068833)

___Cal.App.4th ___ [2013 WL 5308726]).

The decision below also requires review to settle an important question of law. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The decision below poses the question whether *McCullough* amounts to a recondite exception to the Sixth District's nonforfeiture rule of appellate review of ability to pay findings or, conversely, whether *Pacheco* is simply wrong.

McCullough sets forth reasoning that makes clear the answer is the latter. This Court supported its forfeiture holding by reference to a broad array of fines and fees, such as restitution fines (former Gov. Code, § 13967 [see now § 1202.4]) and drug program fees (Health & Saf. Code, § 11372.7). (See People v. Forshay (1995) 39 Cal.App.4th 686, 689-690; People v. Martinez (1998) 65 Cal.App.4th 1511, 1517.) The Court said: "By 'failing to object on the basis of his [ability] to pay,' defendant forfeits both his claim of factual error and the dependent claim challenging 'the adequacy of the record on that point." (McCullough, supra, at p. 597, quoting Forshay, supra, at pp. 689-690.)

This Court also cited *People v. Simon* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1082, 1086, a case applying appellate forfeiture to a defendant who failed to enter a timely trial objection to venue. Observing that the People bear the burden of proving both venue and ability to pay a booking fee by a preponderance of the evidence, the Court stated: "But a defendant who does nothing to put at issue the propriety of imposition of a booking fee forfeits the right to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to support imposition of the booking fee on appeal, in the same way that a defendant who goes to trial forfeits his challenge to the propriety of venue by not timely challenging it." (*McCullough, supra*, 56 Cal.4th at pp. 597-598.) The Court's language implies a broad forfeiture principle, not one constricted to booking fees.

Nothing in the Court's language suggested a need to go through the Penal Code, fee by fee, to assess whether the forfeiture rule applies. The fundamental principle is the same in each case.

McCullough cited other statutes that "similarly require[] a court to determine if a defendant is able to pay a fee before the court may impose it," including probation supervision fees (§ 987.8), work furlough and electronic monitoring fees (§ 1208.2), parole supervision and treatment fees (§§ 646.94, 3006), reimbursement for cost of court-appointed counsel (§ 987.8), and drug program fees (Health & Saf. Code, § 11372.7). The Court observed these statutes contain varying procedural safeguards not contained in the booking fee statute, such as provision for notice and a hearing and a list of factors that should be taken into account in determining ability to pay. The Court observed that the absence of similar procedural safeguards or guidelines for the imposition of booking fees showed the Legislature considered the burden of the booking fee to be de minimis and made "the rationale for forfeiture particularly strong." (54 Cal.4th at p. 599.) That the Court chose to articulate its forfeiture ruling in a "particularly strong" case does not imply that the related and analogous cases do not fall under the rule. One court of appeal has recently noted exactly that. (People v. Aguilar (2013) ___ Cal.App.4th ___ [2013 WL 5290314].)

Finally, this Court concluded that challenges to booking fees concern "factual determinations" not legal conclusions. For that proposition, McCullough cited People v. Welch (1993) 5 Cal.4th 228, 236 (probation conditions), and People v. Scott (1994) 9 Cal.4th 331, 354-355 (sentencing reasons). These authorities reflected errors that "encompass[] factual matters only" are forfeited in the absence of a trial objection. (McCullough, supra, 54 Cal.4th at p. 597.) The forfeiture principle announced in Welch, reiterated in Scott, and reaffirmed in McCullough, clearly applies to a much

broader range of sentencing decisions than whether to impose a booking fee based on ability to pay.

McCullough, not Pacheco, is the rule of appellate forfeiture. Presentence investigation and probation supervision fees involve the same type of factual determinations of ability to pay as are needed for numerous other fees. Nothing in section 1203.1b abrogates the forfeiture doctrine with respect to such determinations. The Sixth District's view that requires no objection to preserve challenges to one common set of fees but not to a host of others is profoundly dissonant and requires review.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, respondent respectfully requests that review be granted.