## S213687

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

## PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

DONNA MARIE TRUJILLO,

Defendant and Appellant.

No.		
INU.		

Court of Appeal No. H038316

Santa Clara County Superior Court No. C1199870

SUPREME COURT FILED

OCT 1 6 2013

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

(Cal. Rules of Ct., Rule 8.500)

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

After Decision by the Court of Appeal Sixth Appellate District Filed August 22, 2013

The Sixth District Appellate Program, in association with:

Randall Conner State Bar No. 179122 160 Franklin Street, Suite 210 Oakland, CA 94607 (510) 709-4066

Attorney for Appellant

##

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

## PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

DONNA MARIE TRUJILLO,

Defendant and Appellant.

No
Court of Appeal No. H038316
Santa Clara County Superior Court No. C1199870

### **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Defendant Donna Marie Trujillo answers the petition for review filed by respondent to the decision of the Court of Appeal for the Sixth Appellate District reversing and remanding the case for purposes of determining defendant's ability to pay probation supervision and presentencing fees. The Court of Appeal filed its opinion on August 22, 2013. (Appendix A.) Neither party sought rehearing. This answer is timely. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(e)(4).) Defendant requests that this Court deny review.

#### **STATEMENT**

A witness found defendant in possession of two stolen Russian icons, defendant having offered to sell them at her garage sale. (IV RT 80-81, 88, 179-180.) On November 17, 2011, a jury found defendant guilty of receiving stolen property (Pen. Code, \$496, subd. (a).) (V RT 328-330, CT 127.) The Santa Clara County Superior Court ordered defendant to appear for sentencing on February 3, 2011. (V RT 333.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Further statutory citations are to this code unless otherwise specified.

In a report dated February 3, 2012, the probation officer recommended that the court order defendant to pay, among other fines and fees, a presentence investigation fee not to exceed \$300, and a probation supervision fee not to exceed \$110 per month. (CT 158-159.) The report contained no facts indicating defendant's ability to pay any fines or fees. (CT 153-169.) Defendant failed to appear for sentencing on February 3, 2011. (CT 136.)

On April 20, 2012, the Santa Clara County Superior Court suspended imposition of sentence, placed defendant on probation, and imposed the following fines and fees: a \$240 restitution fund fine with a \$24 (ten percent) administrative fee (§ 1202.4), an identical probation revocation fine (§ 1202.44) (stayed pending violation of probation), a \$129.75 criminal justice administration fee (Gov. Code, § 29550.1), a \$40 court security fee (§ 1465.8), a \$30 criminal conviction assessment (Gov. Code, § 70373), a presentencing investigation fee "not to exceed \$300" and a probation supervision fee "not to exceed \$110 per month" (§ 1203.1b.) (V RT 357-358, CT 171.) The court ordered defendant to report to the Department of Revenue within 30 days for completion of a plan to pay the fines and fees imposed. (V RT 356-357.) Defendant did not object to the fines and fees, and the court made no findings regarding defendant's ability to pay them. (V RT 357-358.)

The record documented the following facts relevant to defendant's income. Defendant, age 52, lived in the garage of a home occupied by numerous other persons. (IV RT 224-225, 246-247.) At sentencing, trial counsel indicated that defendant trained service dogs for disabled persons. (V RT 354.) The Santa Clara County Superior Court ordered defendant to seek and maintain gainful employment vocational or educational training, as directed by adult probation, and

ordered that such employment "may of course include continuation of her participation in the canine training activities." (V RT 357.) The court made no findings with respect to any income generated by any canine training activities. (V RT 357.)

The record also indicated that defendant suffered from mental health issues. The Santa Clara County Superior Court warned defendant that it would order her removal if she failed to control herself. (V RT 352-353.) Defendant failed to control herself and the court ordered her removed from the courtroom. (V RT 353-354.) In pronouncing sentence, the court commented on defendant's issues as follows:

I've also considered what to this Court is the defendant's very obvious emotional issues, whether or not they are psychiatrically related, or I don't know obviously, but it is very clear to the Court that the defendant's behavior here in court today, during the trial and also as I believe is reflected in her conduct when she was encountered by the police – [defendant interjection] – shows some degree of mental health concern on the part of this Court. (V RT 356.)

On defendant's appeal, the Court of Appeal for the Sixth Appellate District found that under *People v. McCullough* (2013) 56 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 589 (*McCullough*), her failure to object had forfeited her challenge to the \$129.75 criminal justice administration fee imposed pursuant to Government Code section 29550.1.<sup>2</sup> (Typed opn. at pp. 9-10.) However, the appellate court found *McCullough* inapplicable to the trial court's order for payment of probation-related fees. The court explained that "in part, the *McCullough* court distinguished the booking fees statutes from other fees statutes, including the statute dealing with probation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The appellate court also ordered unrelated corrections to the sentencing minutes. (Typed opn. at pp. 8-9.)

related costs such as the one at issue here – section 1203.1b. The *McCullough* court noted that in contrast to the booking fees statues, these statues have procedural safeguards, which indicated to the *McCullough* court that the Legislature considered the financial burden of the booking fees to be de minimus. [Citation.] The *McCullough* court concluded that since the Legislature 'interposed no procedural safeguards or guidelines' for imposition of a booking fee the 'rationale for forfeiture is particularly strong. [Citation.]'" (Typed opn. at p. 5.)

The appellate court then explained that section 1203.1b – unlike booking fee statutes – "sets forth a procedure that must be followed before a trial court may impose fees for the cost of supervised probation or for the preparation of the probation report." (Typed opn. at p. 5.) The court found that this procedure (1) requires the sentencing court to order a defendant to report to the probation officer; (2) requires the probation officer to determine the defendant's ability to pay probation-related costs; and (3) requires the court to inform the defendant of his or her right to a hearing, during which the court will make a determination of defendant's ability to pay. (*Ibid.*) While a defendant may waive his or her right to a hearing, the statute required that the waiver be made knowingly and intelligently. (Typed opn. at pp. 5-6.) And, if a defendant does not waive his or her right to a hearing, "the matter will be remanded to the trial court that will then determine defendant's ability to pay." (Typed opn. at p. 6.)

The appellate court then reviewed its opinion in *People v. Pacheco* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1392 (*Pacheco*), in which it had struck a \$64 per month probation supervision fee. (Typed opn. at p. 6.) *Pacheco* had found that (1) no evidence indicated that a determination had been made of the defendant's ability to pay the fee, (2) no evidence indicated that the probation department had advised the

defendant of his right to a hearing, (3) no evidence indicated that the defendant had waived his right to a hearing, and (4) that the statute did not permit the court to impose the fee as a condition of probation. (Typed opn. at p. 6.) The appellate court concluded from this review that "imposition of the probation related costs in *Pacheco* was erroneous regardless of whether substantial evidence supported an ability to pay." (*Ibid.*)

As in *Pacheco*, the appellate court found that imposition of probation related costs in the instant case was erroneous regardless of whether substantial evidence supported defendant's ability to pay them. (Typed opn. at p. 6.) Even if McCullough required the court to deem defendant's sufficiency of evidence argument forfeited, reversal of the fees was required because no evidence indicated that the trial court or the probation officer had complied with the statute's procedural safeguards. (Typed opn. at pp. 6-7.) The court rejected respondent's argument that the trial court had implicitly determined defendant's ability to pay by granting probation and ordering defendant to seek and maintain gainful employment. (Typed opn. at p. 7.) The court found that this position "ignores the statutory language of section 1203.1b; and the condition alone reveals nothing about [defendant's] current financial position, her earning ability, or her expenses, all of which should be considered in determining appellant's ability to pay probation related costs." (*Ibid*, citing  $\S$  1203.1b, subd. (e)(1)-(4).) Therefore, the court reversed and remanded with directions to the trial court to follow the statutory procedure in section 1203.1b before imposing probation related costs of the presentence investigation and probation supervision. (Typed opn. at p. 10.)

### BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF ANSWER

I. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE THE SIXTH DISTRICT'S OPINION DID NOT MISINTERPRET THIS COURT'S OPINION IN PEOPLE V. MCCULLOUGH

Respondent seeks review by suggesting that the Sixth District's unpublished opinion misinterprets the *McCullough* forfeiture rule. (Petition for Review, pp. 4-6.) This Court should deny review because the Sixth District's opinion applied *McCullough* correctly.

McCullough affirmed a decision of the Third District that the inability to pay a booking fee must be first asserted in the trial court. In that case, this Court assumed that the applicable statute was Government Code section 29550.2, and not related sections 29550 or 29550.1. (McCullough, supra, 56 Cal.4th at p. 592.) In pertinent part, Government Code section 29550.2, subdivision (a), states "[i]f the person has the ability to pay, a judgment of conviction shall contain an order for payment of the amount of the criminal justice administration [booking] fee by the convicted person...." Unlike section 1203.1b, Government Code section 29550.2 does not direct the trial court to consider any particular circumstances in evaluating a defendant's ability to pay. (§ 1203.1b; Gov. Code, § 29550.2.)

McCullough explained that "neither forfeiture nor application of the forfeiture rule is automatic" and that "[o]ur application of the forfeiture bar to sentencing matters is of recent vintage." (McCullough, supra, 56 Cal.4th at pp. 593-594.) This Court acknowledged that "[p]arties may generally challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to support a judgment for the first time on appeal...." (Id. at p. 596.) This Court was thus required to decide whether determining a defendant's ability to pay a fine was the kind of sentencing error that can be forfeited. (Ibid.)

The defendant in *McCullough* argued that booking fee orders result from application of "an objective legal standard" akin to orders for involuntary HIV testing under section 1202.1 and *People v. Butler* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1119. (*McCullough, supra,* 56 Cal.4th at pp. 596-597.) This Court held that "because a court's imposition of a booking fee is confined to factual determinations, a defendant who fails to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence at the proceeding when the fee is imposed may not raise the challenge on appeal." (*Id.* at p. 597.) A "defendant's ability to pay the booking fee here does not present a question of law...." (*Ibid.*)

Parts of the *McCullough* decision indicate that this Court intended a narrow holding. This Court stated, "Given that imposition of a fee is of much less moment than imposition of sentence, and that the goals advanced by judicial forfeiture apply equally here, we see no reason to conclude that the rule permitting challenges made to the sufficiency of the evidence to support a judgment for the first time on appeal 'should apply to a finding of' ability to pay a booking fee under Government Code section 29550.2. [Citation.]" (*McCullough, supra,* 56 Cal.4th at p. 599.) This Court disapproved *Pacheco* "to the extent it holds the contrary." (*Ibid*; fn. omitted.)

This Court distinguished the booking fee from other statutes that require trial courts to consider a defendant's ability to pay before imposing a fee or costs. In reaching its conclusion about the booking fee, *McCullough* reviewed nine other statutes and pointed out that, "[i]n contrast to the booking fee statutes, many of these other statutes provide procedural requirements or guidelines for the ability-to-pay determination." (*McCullough*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 598.) "We note these other statutes because they indicate that the Legislature considers the financial burden of the booking fee to be de minimis and has interposed no

procedural safeguards for its imposition. In this context, the rationale for forfeiture is particularly strong." (*Id.* at p. 599.)

Among the statutes discussed in *McCullough*, this Court noted that sections 1203.1b [payment of cost of probation supervision] and 987.8 [payment of cost of court-appointed counsel] "require defendants to be apprised of their right to a hearing on ability to pay and afford them other procedural safeguards." (*McCullough*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 598.) *McCullough* disapproved of *Pacheco* as to the ability to pay a booking fee but left intact *Pacheco's* holding as to the ability to pay probation supervision fees under section 1203.1b and attorney fees under section 987.8. (*Id.* at p. 599.)

Notably, this Court did not disapprove of the Court of Appeal's decision in *People v. Viray* (2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 1186 (*Viray*). *Viray* stated, "We do not believe that an appellate forfeiture can properly be predicated on the failure of a trial attorney to challenge an order concerning *his own fees*" (*id.* at p. 1215) and concluded that "no predicate objection in the trial court ..." (*id.* at p. 1217) was required to assert on appeal the "dearth of evidence that defendant would be able to pay \$9,200 in defense costs over the six months following the hearing." (*Ibid.*) *McCullough* distinguished *Viray*, stating that the case "merely references the general rule that an appellate challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence 'requires no predicate objection in the trial court." (*McCullough, supra, 56* Cal.4th at p. 599, fn. 2.)

In *McCullough*, this Court also noted that "[e]ven Health and Safety Code section 11372.7, which mandates that individuals convicted under the California Uniform Controlled Substances Act [citation] pay a drug program fee '[i]f the court determines that the person has the ability to pay,' provides more guidance to courts in imposing fees than does Government Code section 29550.2: a court shall impose a drug program fee if it 'is reasonable and compatible with the person's

financial ability,' including the financial impact of 'any fine imposed upon that person and any amount that person has been ordered to pay in restitution.' (Health & Saf. Code, § 11372.7, subd. (b).)" (McCullough, supra, 56 Cal.4th at p. 599.) Section 1203.1b contains language similar to the three quoted provisions of Health and Safety Code section 11372.7. It provides that the court's determination of the defendant's ability to pay probation-related costs must take into account "any amount that the defendant is ordered to pay in fines, assessments, and restitution, ..." (§ 1203.1b, subd. (a).) It also provides that following an ability to pay hearing, "if the court determines that the defendant has the ability to pay all or part of the costs, the court shall set the amount to be reimbursed and order the defendant to pay that sum to the county in the manner in which the court believes reasonable and compatible with the defendant's financial ability." (§ 1203.1b, subd. (b)(2).)

In summary, *McCullough* identified Government Code section 29550.2 as involving a fee the Legislature must have regarded as de minimis, given the lack of procedural safeguards. (*McCullough*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 599.) By negative implication, the rationale for forfeiture is weaker when the Legislature does provide procedural safeguards. The Court of Appeal correctly applied *McCullough* when, in the instant case, it found the rationale for forfeiture insufficiently compelling when the trial court had ordered payment of significant probation related fees without complying with the procedural safeguards required by section 1203.1b.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW BECAUSE THE SIXTH DISTRICT'S OPINION DID NOT CONFLICT WITH CASES APPLYING PEOPLE V. MCCULLOUGH

Respondent also seeks review by suggesting that the Sixth District's unpublished opinion conflicts with cases in the First and Third Districts that have

applied *McCullough's* forfeiture rule. (Petition for Review, pp. 3-4.) This Court should deny review because the decision in the instant case does not conflict with cases in the First and Third Districts.

In *People v. Aguilar* (Aug. 28 2013, A135516) \_\_ Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> \_\_ [2013 WL 5290314] (*Aguilar*)), the trial court had imposed, inter alia, the following fees: (1) Attorney fees of \$500 (§ 987.8, subd. (b)), (2) a probation supervision fee not to exceed \$75 per month (§ 1203.1b, subd. (a)), and (3) a "Criminal Assessment fee" of \$564 that the Court of Appeal for the First Appellate District deemed a "criminal justice administration" fee found in the Government Code at sections 29550 to 29550.3. (*Ibid.*) The defendant conceded that under *McCullough*, his failure to object had forfeited his challenge to the criminal justice administration fee. (*Id.* at \* 2.)

The First District found that defendant had also forfeited his challenge to the attorney's fees and probation costs orders. The court interpreted *McCullough* to have found that the rationale for forfeiture was both "particularly strong" in the case of booking fees and "still strong" as to other fees and costs. (*Aguilar, supra,* 2013 WL 5290314\*3.) The court rejected the defendant's argument that he was not advised of, and did not waive, his due process hearing rights with respect to the probation supervision fees, finding that *People v. Valtakis* (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 1066, 1068 had "held a defendant's failure to object at sentencing to noncompliance with the probation fee procedures of section 1203.1b waives any claim of error on appeal." (*Aguilar, supra,* 2013 WL 5290314\*3.)

Contrary to respondent's suggestion, *Aguilar* is distinguishable on its facts from the instant case, and for that reason, does not conflict with it. In *Aguilar*, the trial court, when it imposed the fees and costs at issue, noted that the defendant might not be required to pay them in full. (*Aguilar*, *supra*, 2013 WL 5290314\*1.) The trial court had stated: "Many of these fees are going to be based on his ability

to pay. When he contacts the probation office, he'll fill out [a] fiscal financial assessment form and he can talk with the probation deputy about his ability to pay these various fees." (*Ibid.*)

In short, while the trial court had not fully complied with the procedural safeguards set forth in section 1203.1b, it had notified the defendant that (1) its order to pay probation supervision fees would be subject to the defendant's ability to pay, and (2) that the probation officer would determine defendant's ability to pay. (Aguilar, supra, 2013 WL 5290314\*1.) On defendant's appeal of the probation supervision fees, following defendant's failure to object to them, the Aguilar court aptly reasoned that "any claim by appellant that the probation department failed to follow the procedures set forth in section 1203.1b would rely on facts outside the record on appeal, making habeas corpus or some other post-conviction proceeding the proper way to raise the issue." (Aguilar, supra, 1213 WL5290314\*3.) Under these facts, the Aguilar court did not err when it found that the defendant had forfeited a challenge to the probation costs order by failing to object.

Aguilar and the instant case do not conflict because the instant case has different facts that required a different conclusion. In the instant case, unlike in Aguilar, the probation officer interviewed the defendant prior to the sentencing hearing, and failed to assess defendant's ability to pay, and failed to advise defendant of her right to an ability to pay hearing. (Typed opn. at pp. 6-7.) At the sentencing hearing that followed the probation officer's failure to assess defendant's ability to pay, the court also failed to assess defendant's ability to pay, and failed to advise defendant of her right to an ability to pay hearing. (Ibid.) Given these facts, the Court of Appeal for the Sixth Appellate District aptly found that even if McCullough required the court to deem defendant's sufficiency of evidence argument forfeited, reversal of the fees was required because no evidence

indicated that the trial court or the probation officer had complied with the statute's procedural safeguards. (Typed opn. at pp. 6-7.) The failures of the probation officer and the trial court to comply with the statute's procedural safeguards was, unlike in *Aguilar*, part of the appellate record.

Similarly, in *People v. Snow* (Aug. 26, 2013, C068833) \_\_ Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> \_\_\_ [2013 WL 5308726] (*Snow*)), the trial court had ordered the defendant to pay, among other fees, a \$736 presentence investigation report fee and \$164 per month probation supervision fee. (*Id.* at \*1.) The Court of Appeal for the Third Appellate District found that "defendant had adequate notice that the costs of the report and supervision would be imposed but objected to neither in writing or orally and never requested a hearing. He now contends insufficient evidence supports a finding of his ability to pay the report and supervision fees. Based on the reasoning of *McCullough*, we conclude that defendant forfeited his challenge to the cost of the probation report (\$736) and monthly supervision (\$164 per month for 60 months) imposed pursuant to Penal Code section 1203.1b." (*Id.* at \*2.)

Again, contrary to respondent's suggestion, *Snow* is distinguishable from the instant ease, and for that reason, does not conflict with it. In *Snow*, following the defendant's change of plea, the probation officer accompanied his recommendations for fees and costs with his assessment that defendant was "ablebodied with marketable job skills, and therefore, he should have the ability to pay all fines, fees, and restitution, as ordered by the Court." (*Snow*, *supra*, 2013 WL 5308726\*1.) The defendant did not object to the probation officer's assessment: to the contrary, in a written statement of probation eligibility and mitigation, "defendant sought a grant of probation, stating that he was willing to pay restitution, had set aside several thousand dollars to do so, and had the ability to comply with the terms and conditions of probation. He stated that he had always

been the provider for his family. He did not state that he had no ability to pay fees or fines." (*Ibid*.)

At sentencing, following a supplemental probation report in which the probation officer had reiterated the recommendations for fees, fines and restitution, defense counsel stated that defendant was "prepared to pay \$5,000 toward restitution" immediately and would "commit to an O/R order at \$1,000 a month of continual payment to court compliance in addition to the [\$]5,000 today." (Snow, supra, 2013 WL 5308726\*1.) Defense counsel stated that defendant was employed, and did not state that defendant did not have the ability to pay the recommended fees and fines, and did not object to court's imposition of restitution, fines, and fees, including the presentence investigation report fee and the monthly supervision fee. (Ibid.)

Like Aguilar and the instant case, Snow and the instant case do not conflict. Given defendant's affirmation of his ability to pay significant sums in restitution, the Third District correctly reasoned that under McCullough, defendant's failure to object to the probation costs orders required application of the forfeiture doctrine. But in the instant case, the probation officer did not assess defendant as ablebodied with marketable job skills, and the defendant did not assure the court at sentencing that she could pay substantial sums towards her court-ordered obligations. Both Snow and the instant case interpreted McCullough correctly.

For similar reasons, the instant case does not conflict with *Valtakis*, the case that *Aguilar* relied upon to find forfeiture. In *Valtakis*, following defendant's change of plea, the probation officer recommended that defendant pay (among other fees) a probation fee of \$250 (§ 1203.1). (*Valtakis, supra,* 105 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 1069.) The report contained no determination of ability to pay and no advisement of a right to a separate hearing on that issue, but noted that defendant had since moved to Susanville with his mother, who worked as a correctional

Community College in an effort to obtain a certificate in steam power operations. (*Ibid*.) At sentencing, the 22-year-old defendant represented to the court, through counsel, that he remained enrolled in college, had "straightened out his life substantially" since the offense, was working part-time for the H.L. Power Company, and had gotten "excellent recommendations" from the college and the company. (*Ibid*.) The court placed defendant on probation and ordered him to pay fees that included a \$250 probation services fee. (*Ibid*.) Defendant did not object to this fee. (*Ibid*.)

As in *Snow*, the probation officer in *Valtakis* accompanied his recommendation for payment of fees and costs with his assessment that defendant had advantages relevant to his ability to pay fees and costs: here, a stable living environment in the home of an employed parent. (*Valtakis*, *supra*, 105 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at p. 1069.) At the sentencing following this assessment, defendant validated the assessment, reporting that he had obtained part-time employment. (*Ibid*.) As the appellate court described, "[t]he record shows that he had \$255 on him when arrested and, by the time of sentencing, was working part-time, was not addicted to drugs or otherwise incapacitated, was living with his mother (herself employed), and was given a three-month stay of his jail term in order to complete his current school semester." (*Id.* at p. 1076.) In the instant case, no such facts were found. *Valtakis* correctly found forfeiture and the instant case correctly found no forfeiture.

## CONCLUSION

Accordingly, defendant Donna Marie Trujillo requests that this Court deny respondent's petition for review.